FOURTH EDITION

GLOBAL HEALTH CARE

ISSUES AND POLICIES



FOURTH EDITION

GLOBAL HEALTH CARE

ISSUES AND POLICIES



Walkthrough

Global Health Care: Issues and Policies, Fourth Edition drives comprehension through various strategies that meet the learning needs of students while also generating enthusiasm about the topic. This interactive approach addresses different learning styles, making this the ideal text to ensure mastery of key concepts. The pedagogical aids that appear in most chapters include the following:

Global Health in Developed Societies: Examples in the United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom

Carol Holtz



Objectives

After completing this chapter, the reader will be able to:

- Compare and contrast population health statistics for the United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom.
- Compare and contrast the major health issues and healthcare systems of the United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom.
- 3. Relate healthcare disparities within and among the United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom
- 4. Discuss the high rates of longevity for residents of Japan and Sweden.

INTRODUCTION

This chapter gives examples of developed countries and their major health issues and trends. These countries were chosen because they vary in terms of their healthcare systems, population health statistics, and geographic areas. We review many of the health issues in greater detail in other chapters of this text.

Many developed countries are currently working on controversial legal, religious, and ethical issues, as well as health disparities within their population, that directly relate to health care and healthcare delivery systems. Specifically, we will address the following topics:

- · Access to health care for all residents
- · Health disparities within populations

Chapter Objectives

These objectives provide instructors and students with a snapshot of key information that they will encounter in the chapter. Objectives serve as a checklist to help guide and focus study.

Study Questions

- 1. Explain the need for prenatal care and its relationship to better birth outcomes.
- 2. Relate causes of global maternal and infant mortality
- 3. What is meant by "reproductive rights"?
- Explain the relationship of skilled birth attendants, cleanliness at delivery, and better birth outcomes.
- 5. Give examples of cultural influences and reproductive health for men and women
- 6. What are some causes of violence against women, and what do you think can be done to
- 7. Discuss the need for global male reproductive health.

Case Study 1: Inuulitsivik Midwifery Program in Canada

The Inuulitsivik (Inuit) 1950s Midwifery Program was created because of an inefficient evacuation policy in which pregnant women from the Nunavik region were sent to deliver in southern Canadian hospitals to decrease the high potinatal/infant mortality rates as compared to other regions in Canada. A 1986 program returned birthing to Nunavik communities, resulting in a major decrease in evacuations of pregnant nuit women, a decrease in perinatal mortality rates, and increased patient satisfaction.

Case Study 1 Questions

- Why do you think the Canadian government initially thought it best to evacuate pregnant Inuulitsivik women from northern Quebec to "safer" southern Canadian hosbitals before delivery?
- 2. Why do you think the perinatal mortality rates decreased after the midwifery program was initiated in the Inuit communities with local region midwives?

Bidulka, P., Chuang, R., Barise, R., Cho, M., & Mate, K. (2015). Reclaiming childbirth: The Inuulitsivik Aboriginal Midwifery Program. Global health case studies: A compilation from PPHS 511: Fundamentals of Global Health. McGill University. https://www.mcgill.ca/globalhealth/files/globalhealth/casestudybook_final1.pdf

Case Study 2: A Safe Motherhood Project in Nigeria

Nigeria has about 2% of the world's population but accounts for 10% of the world's maternal deaths. The authors suggest that by providing pregnant women with cell phones as part of the Safe Motherhood Project, their attendance at health clinics improved, and they were thereby provided with necessary health information. This ultimately improved overall healthcare services to pregnant women and decreased maternal mortality rates in 10 participating health facilities. Pregnancy complications were lower (in the project area as compared with the control area without cell phones). The program's success was due to increased use of healthcare facilities for pregnant women with complications.

Study Questions

Review key concepts using these end-of-chapter questions.

Case Studies

Read and analyze real-life global health situations and apply knowledge from the chapter to answer critical thinking questions.

FOURTH EDITION

GLOBAL HEALTH CARE

ISSUES AND POLICIES

Carol Holtz, PhD, RN

Professor Emeritus of Nursing WellStar School of Nursing Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia





World Headquarters Jones & Bartlett Learning 5 Wall Street Burlington, MA 01803 978-443-5000 info@jblearning.com www.jblearning.com

Jones & Bartlett Learning books and products are available through most bookstores and online booksellers. To contact Jones & Bartlett Learning directly, call 800-832-0034, fax 978-443-8000, or visit our website, www.jblearning.com.

Substantial discounts on bulk quantities of Jones & Bartlett Learning publications are available to corporations, professional associations, and other qualified organizations. For details and specific discount information, contact the special sales department at Jones & Bartlett Learning via the above contact information or send an email to specialsales@jblearning.com.

Copyright © 2022 by Jones & Bartlett Learning, LLC, an Ascend Learning Company

All rights reserved. No part of the material protected by this copyright may be reproduced or utilized in any form, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without written permission from the copyright owner.

The content, statements, views, and opinions herein are the sole expression of the respective authors and not that of Jones & Bartlett Learning, LLC. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not constitute or imply its endorsement or recommendation by Jones & Bartlett Learning, LLC and such reference shall not be used for advertising or product endorsement purposes. All trademarks displayed are the trademarks of the parties noted herein. *Global Health Care: Issues and Policies, Fourth Edition* is an independent publication and has not been authorized, sponsored, or otherwise approved by the owners of the trademarks or service marks referenced in this product.

There may be images in this book that feature models; these models do not necessarily endorse, represent, or participate in the activities represented in the images. Any screenshots in this product are for educational and instructive purposes only. Any individuals and scenarios featured in the case studies throughout this product may be real or fictitious, but are used for instructional purposes only.

The authors, editor, and publisher have made every effort to provide accurate information. However, they are not responsible for errors, omissions, or for any outcomes related to the use of the contents of this book and take no responsibility for the use of the products and procedures described. Treatments and side effects described in this book may not be applicable to all people; likewise, some people may require a dose or experience a side effect that is not described herein. Drugs and medical devices are discussed that may have limited availability controlled by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for use only in a research study or clinical trial. Research, clinical practice, and government regulations often change the accepted standard in this field. When consideration is being given to use of any drug in the clinical setting, the health care provider or reader is responsible for determining FDA status of the drug, reading the package insert, and reviewing prescribing information for the most up-to-date recommendations on dose, precautions, and contraindications, and determining the appropriate usage for the product. This is especially important in the case of drugs that are new or seldom used.

19123-3

Production Credits

VP, Product Management: Amanda Martin Director of Product Management: Matthew Kane

Product Manager: Joanna Gallant Content Strategist: Christina Freitas

Manager, Project Management: Kristen Rogers

Project Specialist: Kelly Sylvester

Digital Project Specialist: Rachel DiMaggio Senior Marketing Manager: Jennifer Scherzay

VP, Manufacturing and Inventory Control: Therese Connell

Product Fulfillment Manager: Wendy Kilborn Composition: S4Carlisle Publishing Services Cover Design: Michael O'Donnell

Senior Media Development Editor: Troy Liston Rights & Permissions Manager: John Rusk

Rights Specialist: Maria Leon Maimone

Cover Image (Title Page): © Matvienko Vladimir/ Shutterstock

Printing and Binding: McNaughton & Gunn

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Holtz, Carol, editor.

Title: Global health care: issues and policies / [edited by] Carol Holtz.

Description: Fourth edition. | Burlington, Massachusetts: Jones & Bartlett

Learning, [2022] | Includes bibliographical references and index.

Identifiers: LCCN 2020012416 | ISBN 9781284175691 (paperback)

Subjects: MESH: Global Health | Cross-Cultural Comparison | Delivery of Health Care | Health Policy

Classification: LCC RA441 | NLM WA 530.1 | DDC 362.1--dc23

LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2020012416

LCCN: 2019947448

Contents

	Preface	xix
	Acknowledgments	xxi
	Contributors	xxiii
SECTION I	GLOBAL HEALTH ISSUES, POLICY,	
	AND HEALTHCARE DELIVERY	1
Chapter 1	Global Health: An Introduction	3
_	Carol Holtz, PhD, RN	
	with contributions by Janet Memark, MD, MPH, FACP	
	What Is Global Health?	3
	Selected Global Infectious Diseases	4
	Global Noncommunicable Diseases	8
	Road Traffic Accidents	8
	Malnutrition and Obesity	9
	Environmental Risks	9
	Unintentional Poisonings	9
	Mental Health	9
	Global Opioid Epidemic	10
	U.S. Opioid Crisis	10
	Violence	11
	Global Life Expectancy	11
	Sustainable Development Goals	12
	Global Health Disparities	15
	Indices (Indicators) of Health Disparities	15

	Human Rights to Health Care	18
	Universal Right to Health Care	18
	WHO Fighting Ebola in the Congo	19
	Global Health Workforce Migrations (Brain Drain)	19
	Summary	20
	Study Questions	20
	Case Study: Unforeseen Costs of Cutting Mosquito Surveillance Budgets	20
	Case Study Questions	21
	References	21
Chapter 2	Global Health in Developed Societies: Examples in the	
	United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom	25
	Carol Holtz, PhD, RN	
	Introduction	25
	United States	26
	Sweden	44
	Japan	49
	United Kingdom	51
	Summary	55
	Study Questions	55
	Case Study: Addressing U.S. American Indians	
	(Native Americans)/Alaska Natives and Diabetes	55
	Case Study Questions	56
	References	56
Chapter 3	Developing Countries: Egypt, China, India, and South Africa <i>Carol Holtz, PhD, RN</i>	59
	Introduction	59
	Egypt	59
	China (People's Republic of China)	68
	India	77
	South Africa (Republic of South Africa)	81
	Summary	89
	Study Questions	89
	References	90
Chapter 4	Global Perspectives on Economics and Healthcare Finance	95
	Govind Hariharan, PhD	
	Dimitri C. Camargo-Dodonova, MBA, MS, BS	
	Introduction	95
	Profiles of Five Healthcare Systems	97
	Comparative Analysis of Healthcare Systems	110
	Healthcare Productivity and Costs	113
	Key Components of an Ideal Healthcare System	120
	Study Questions	122
	References	122

SECTION II	SPECIAL GLOBAL HEALTH AND HEALTHCARE ISSUES	125
Chapter 5	Human Trafficking: The Pandemic of Modern Slavery	127
	Mary de Chesnay, PhD, RN, PMHCNS-BC, FAAN	
	Introduction	127
	Definitions of Human Trafficking	128
	Types of Human Trafficking	129
	Case Study: Forced Labor	130
	Case Study: Sex Trafficking	130
	Case Study: Organ Trafficking	131
	Case Study: Baby Trafficking	131
	Case Study: Debt Bondage	131
	Case Study: Child Brides	132
	Case Study: Child Soldiers	132
	The Traffickers	133
	Health of Sex Trafficking Survivors	133
	Case Study: System of Care	135
	Case Study Questions	136
	Summary	136
	Study Questions	136
	References	137
Chapter 6	Social Determinants of Health	139
	Dula F. Pacquiao, EdD, RN, CTN-A, TNS	
	Introduction	139
	Social Determinants of Health	139
	Social Reproduction of Health Inequity	141
	Global Health Inequities	147
	Strategies for Addressing Social Determinants of Population Health	153
	Case Study: Native Hawaiians	155
	Conclusion	156
	Case Study Questions	157
	References	157
Chapter 7	Health and Health Care of Native Americans	
•	(American Indians/Alaskan Natives/Alaskan Indians)	
	in the United States	161
	Alex Giles, MSN	
	Introduction	161
	Broken U.S. Treaties and U.S. Congress Funding Lags Contribute	
	to Disparities	162
	Current Native Demographics	163
	Compelling Evidence of Health Disparities Across Native	
	American Populations	163
	Mortality Disparity Rates	164
	Cancer in the Native American Populations	164

	Substance Abuse/Alcohol Abuse	166
	Liver Disease	167
	Obesity and Diabetes	168
	Septicemia/Infectious Diseases	169
	Biopolitics Affecting NA Healthcare Delivery Systems	170
	Future Implications of Reducing the Healthcare Disparities	
	in the NA Population	171
	Conclusion	171
	Study Questions	171
	References	172
Chapter 8	Global Perspectives on Mental Health	173
	Astrid H. Wilson, DNS, RN	
	Overview	173
	Global Perspective: The Influence of Research and Technology	174
	Regional Mental Health Issues and Outcomes	176
	Global Opioid Crisis	184
	Summary	185
	Study Questions	185
	Case Study: China	186
	References	186
Chapter 9	Global Major Neurological Issues	189
	Noel Holtz, MD	
	Introduction	189
	Multiple Sclerosis	189
	Stroke	191
	Dementia	192
	Migraine Headaches	194
	Epilepsy	195
	Case Study: Pediatric Epilepsy in Iran: Ketogenic Diet Treatment	197
	Case Study Questions	197
	References	198
Chapter 10	Global Perspectives on Selected Chronic Cardiovascular	
•	Diseases	201
	Bowman O. Davis, Jr., PhD	
	Introduction	201
	Demographic and Socioeconomic Transition	201
	The Underlying Role of Poverty	202
	The Chronic Disease Burden	209
	Conclusions	209
	Study Questions	225
	Case Study: Global Cardiovascular Diseases	226
	Case Study Questions	226
	References	226

Chapter 11	Infectious Diseases from a Global Perspective	229
	Barbara J. Blake, PhD, ACRN, FAAN	
	Gloria A. Taylor, DNS, RN	
	Introduction	229
	Historical Approaches to Infectious Diseases	230
	Cholera	231
	Dengue and Severe Dengue	232
	Malaria	233
	Avian Influenza (Bird Flu): (H5N1) or (H7N9)	235
	West Nile Virus	236
	Escherichia Coli	237
	Influenza (Seasonal)	238
	Zika Virus Disease	240
	Ebola Virus Disease	241
	Viral Hepatitis	243
	Syphilis	248
	Tuberculosis	249
	Human Immunodeficiency Virus/Acquired Immune	
	Deficiency Syndrome	251
	Infectious Disease Surveillance	254
	Summary	255
	Study Questions	255
	Case Study 1 on Infectious Disease	255
	Case Study 1 Questions	256
	Case Study 2 on Infectious Disease	256
	Case Study 2 Questions	256
	Case Study 3 on Infectious Disease	256
	Case Study 3 Questions	257
	References	257
Chapter 12	HIV/AIDS, Stigma, and Disclosure: A Need	
	for a Human Rights Perspective	263
	Richard L. Sowell, PhD, RN, FAAN	
	Introduction	263
	Stigma	265
	HIV/AIDS Stigma	265
	Characteristics of the Illness and Stigma	267
	Consequences of HIV/AIDS Stigma	268
	Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP)	271
	Disclosure	271
	Human Rights Framework	277
	Summary	279
	Study Questions	279
	Case Study: Stigma and Discrimination	279
	Case Study Questions	281
	References	282

Chapter 13	Global Use of Complementary and Integrative	
	Health Approaches	293
	Ping Hu Johnson, MD, PhD	
	Introduction	293
	Complementary and Integrative Health in the United States	294
	CIH in the World	295
	Major Forms of Complementary and Integrative Health	297
	Research and Technology	309
	Legal and Ethical Issues	311
	Influences of Politics, Economics, Culture, and Religion	315
	CIH Practices in Developing Versus Developed Societies	320
	Summary	320
	Study Questions	321
	Case Study 1: Homeopathic Remedy Treating Anxiety and	
	Depression After Conventional Therapies Failed	321
	Case Study 2: Homeopathy Treating Postpartum Depression	321
	Case Study 3: Traditional Chinese Medicine Treating Infertility Case Study 4: Qi Therapy Used to Relieve Symptoms of Cancer	322
	in a Terminally Ill Cancer Patient	322
	Case Study Questions	323
	References	323
Chapter 14	Global Perspectives on Diabetes, Respiratory Diseases,	
	and Orthopedic Chronic Diseases	327
	Janice Long, PhD, RN	
	Introduction: The Global Burden of Chronic	
	(Noncommunicable) Diseases	327
	Causes of Noncommunicable Diseases	328
	The Cost of Noncommunicable Diseases	330
	Musculoskeletal Disorders	331
	Diabetes	335
	Asthma	340
	Conclusion	344
	Study Questions	344
	Case Study: Female with Type II Diabetes and Asthma	345
	Case Study Questions	345
	References	346
Chapter 15	Global Perspectives on Violence, Injury,	
	and Occupational Health	349
	Carol Holtz, PhD, RN	
	Global Violence and Injuries	350
	Sustainable Development Goals Addressing Global Injuries	
	and Violence	350

		Contents	xiii
	Child Maltreatment		352
	Global Youth Violence		355
	Sexual Violence		355
	Elder Abuse		356
	Violence and Injuries in the United States		359
	Facts About Violence		359
	A Global Perspective on Violence		360
	Global Suicide		361
	Violence Against Women		362
	School Violence		368
	Violence and War		370
	Posttraumatic Stress Disorder		370
	Injury		371
	Lead Poisoning		371
	Alcohol-Related Injuries		372
	Burns		373
	Drowning		375
	Occupational Health		376
	Study Questions		385
	Case Study 1: Domestic Violence and Legal Aid Support		385
	Case Study 1 Questions	-)	385
	Case Study 2: Alliance Ntakwinja (Democratic Republic of Cong	3)	386
	Case Study 2 Questions		386 386
	Case Study 3: Women and Suicide in China		387
	Case Study 3 Questions References		387
Chapter 16	Global Perspectives on Nutrition Carol Holtz, PhD, RN Marvin A. Friedman, PhD, DABT, DATS, SNF		389
	Introduction		389
	Types of Nutritional Challenges		392
	Global Overweight and Obesity		400
	Food Safety and Security		407
	Nutritional Emergencies		411
	Nutritional Challenges in Vulnerable Populations		411
	Actions Needed to End Global Malnutrition		416
	The Future		417
	Keywords		418
	Study Questions		418
	Case Study 1: Micronutrient: Iodine Deficiency		418
	Case Study 1 Questions		419
	Case Study 2: Micronutrient: Vitamin A		419
	Case Study 2 Questions		420

	Case Study 3: Micronutrient: Iron	420
	Case Study 3 Questions	421
	Case Study 4: Protein-Energy	422
	Case Study 4 Questions	423
	References	424
Chapter 17	Global Perspectives on Environmental Health Marvin A. Friedman, PhD, DABT, DATS, SNF	427
	Introduction	427
	Global Issues: Lessons in Environmental Health	427
	Principles of Environmental Health	420
	Principles of Environmental Health Principles of Toxicology	431
	Legal and Ethical Issues	434
	What Is the Environment?	430
	Persistent Organics	440
	Food	442
	Sustainable Development	444
	Study Questions	445
	Case Study 1: Micronutrient: Aflatoxin B1	445
	Case Study 1 Questions	446
	Case Study 1 Questions Case Study 2: Balkan Nephropathy	446
	Case Study 2 Questions	447
	Case Study 3: Korean BOOP	447
	Case Study 3 Questions	448
	References	448
Chapter 18	International Social Work Practice in Health Care Monica Nandan, PhD	451
	Social Work in a Health Care Setting	451
	International Social Work and Human Rights	454
	Select Challenges in Global Health and the Role of Social Work	455
	Domestic and Family Violence	462
	Social Work Practices in a Global Context	464
	Illustrations of Healthcare Social Work Practices in Four Countries	466
	Conclusion	468
	Study Questions	469
	Case Study 1: A Chinese Family in New Zealand	469
	References	470
SECTION III	LIFE SPAN HEALTH ISSUES	475
Chapter 19	Global Health in Reproduction and Infants <i>Carol Holtz, PhD, RN</i>	477
	Background	477
	Stages of Reproductive Health Care for Women	480

	Contents	xv
	Maternal Morbidity and Mortality	481
	Adolescent and Reproductive Health	494
	Infant Health	499
	Sick Newborns	500
	Infant Mortality Disparities in the United States	500
	Cultural Influences on Reproductive Health for	
	Latina/Hispanic Women	502
	Family Planning and Contraception	506
	Global Male Infertility	509
	Conclusion	509
	Study Questions	510
	Case Study 1: Inuulitsivik Midwifery Program in Canada	510
	Case Study 1 Questions	510
	Case Study 2: A Safe Motherhood Project in Nigeria	510
	Case Study 2 Questions	511
	Case Study 3: Obstetric Fistula Crisis in Niger	511
	Case Study 3 Questions	511
	References	512
Chapter 20	Global Health of Children	515
	Amy Long, DNP, RN, CPNP-PC	
	Introduction	515
	International Organizations Focus on Global Health of Children	516
	Measuring Health in Children: Childhood Mortality Statistics	517
	What Are the Health Problems for Children?	518
	Emerging Priorities in the Global Health Agenda	524
	Strategies to Improve Global Child Health	525
	Future Challenges	528
	Digital Health	529
	Other Influences on Children's Health: Politics, Economics, and Culture	529
	Conclusion	530
	Study Questions	531
	Case Study: Caring for a Child from Bangladesh	531
	References	531
Chapter 21	Global Health of the Older Adult	535
•	David B. Mitchell, PhD	
	Introduction	535
	Mortality and Morbidity Statistics	539
	Research and Technology	548
	Centenarians	549
	Legal and Ethical Issues	550
	Influences of Politics, Economics, Culture, and Religion	551
	Conclusion	557

Study Questions

	Case Study: Ageism	557
	Case Study Questions	559
	References	559
SECTION IV	WORLDWIDE HEALTH ISSUES AND TRENDS	
	BY SPECIFIC COUNTRY	565
Chapter 22	A Unique Perspective on Health Care in Panamá	567
	Lydia Gordón de Isaacs, PhD, MSN, BS	
	Larry Purnell, PhD, RN, FAAN	
	Introduction	567
	People of Panamá	569
	History, Politics, and Government	570
	Economics, Transportation, and Technology	572
	Education in Panamá	574
	Language and Communication in Panamá	576
	Spirituality and Religion	579
	Research and Global Projects Health and Healthcare Practices	580
	Illness, Diseases, and Injury Profile	583 586
	Traditional Practitioners and Herbal Medicines	591
	Summary	593
	Study Questions	594
	Case Study 1: Cross-Cultural Learning	594
	Case Study 1 Questions	595
	Case Study 2: Panamanian Challenges to Care	595
	Case Study 2 Questions	596
	References	597
Chapter 23	Health and Health Care in Mexico	599
_	Rick D. Zoucha, PhD, APRN-BC, CT, FAAN	
	Anelise Zamarripa-Zoucha, BSN, RN	
	Introduction	599
	Mexico and Its People	599
	Brief History of Mexico	600
	The Mexican Healthcare System	606
	Conclusion	608
	Study Questions	609
	Case Study: Health Care in Guanajuato, Mexico	609
	Case Study Questions	610
	References	610
Chapter 24	Health and Health Care in Israel	611
	Orly Toren, PhD, RN	
	Michal Lipschuetz, RN, MPH, MSc	
	Introduction	611
	History	611

557

	Contents	XVII
Population and Demography		612
Healthcare System in Israel		613
Healthcare System: Present		614
Israeli Ministry of Health		617
Healthcare Reforms		619
Preparing for Emergency Situations and Mass Casualty Events		620
Health in Israel: Statistics and Trends		620
Healthcare Workforce in Israel		621
Nursing Development in Israel		623
Conclusion		624
References		624
Index		627

Preface

The main purpose of this text is to provide knowledge and a better understanding of global health and health care with its related policies and issues. As stated by the Institute of Medicine in *America's Vital Interest in Global Health* (2012), "The failure to engage in the fight to anticipate, prevent and ameliorate global health problems would diminish America's stature in the realm of health and jeopardize our own health, economy, and national security" (p. 1). One cannot argue the need to have a global perspective, and many have stated this need eloquently. As Kofi Annan, Ghanaian diplomat, seventh Secretary-General of the United Nations, and 2001 Nobel Peace Prize recipient noted, "It has been said that arguing against globalization is like arguing against the law of gravity." He also related, "[W]e have different religions, different languages, different colored skin, but we all belong to one human race."

WHAT IS GLOBAL HEALTH?

Global health is an area of study, research, and practice that places a priority on improving health and achieving equity in health for all people worldwide. It refers to such health problems as infectious and insect-borne diseases that transcend national borders and spread from one country to another. It also includes health problems that have a global, political, and economic impact. Global health problems are best addressed by cooperative actions whose solutions involve more than one country. Because global health problems can cross national borders, countries can learn from one another's experiences, such as how certain diseases are spread, treated, and controlled. International cooperation is essential to address and treat health problems that transcend borders. Approximately 90% of the world's healthcare resources are spent on diseases that affect only

xx Preface

10% of the world's population. Working to solve global health problems will help ensure that money and resources are distributed more fairly across the globe.*

Today, as we experience the impact of the COVID-19 virus, we can all acknowledge firsthand its impact on the health, as well as food, shelter, and financial security, of all individuals and societies on our Earth. This impact clearly underscores the timely importance for our study of global health.

^{*}Institute of Medicine. (1997). America's vital interest in global health: Protecting our people, enhancing our economy, and advancing our international interests. https://doi.org/10.17226/5717

Acknowledgments

This text represents the combined efforts of numerous well-educated, very dedicated, experienced, and hardworking contributors, in addition to my own work. I also wish to thank the outstanding editors of Jones & Bartlett Learning for supporting my ideas and for the help in organizing, writing, and editing this textbook.

In addition, I wish to thank my husband of 52 years, Dr. Noel Holtz, a neurologist and employee of the WellStar Health System of Marietta, Georgia, for his love, devotion, and consistent support—and also, for the first time, for writing a chapter addressing global neurological health in this Fourth Edition.

I dedicate this book to my husband, Noel Holtz; to my children, Pamela and David Poulos, Aaron and Lisa Holtz, and Daniel and Maggie Holtz; and to my 13 grandchildren, Andrew, Brandon, Caroline, and Ben Holtz, Sarah and Meryl Gilmore, Evelyn and William Holtz, David Jr. and Jeremy Poulos, and Charlie, Julia, and Alan Berkoski. I give all of my children and grandchildren this legacy of scholarship, hard work, and perseverance that I learned from my grandparents and parents, as well as my in-laws and my many teachers, who always believed in me and encouraged me to achieve my scholarly pursuits.

Contributors

Barbara J. Blake, PhD, ACRN, FAAN

Professor of Nursing Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Mary de Chesnay, PhD, RN, PMHCNS-BC, FAAN

Professor of Nursing Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Bowman O. Davis Jr., PhD

Professor Emeritus of Biology Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Dimitri C. Camargo-Dodonova, MBA, MS, BS

Senior Lecturer of Economics, Finance, and Quantitative Analysis Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Marvin A. Friedman, PhD, DABT, DATS, SNF

Scientific Advisor Oviedo, Florida

Alex Giles, MSN

Assistant Professor of Nursing Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Govind Hariharan, PhD

Professor of Economics, Finance, and Quantitative Analysis Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Carol Holtz, PhD, RN

Professor of Nursing Emeritus

Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia Chair, Cobb/Douglas Board of Health Atlanta, Georgia Transcultural Nursing Society, Scholar

Noel Holtz, MD

Neurologist Marietta, Georgia Associate Clinical Professor of Neurology Emory University School of Medicine Atlanta, Georgia

Lydia Gordón de Isaacs, PhD, MSN, BS

Professor

Universidad de Panamá

Panama City, Panamá

Ping Hu Johnson, MD, PhD

Associate Professor of Health, Physical Education, and Sport Science

Kennesaw State University

Kennesaw, Georgia

Michal Lipschuetz, RN, MPH, MSc

Nursing Administration Hadassah Medical Center Ierusalem, Israel

Amy Long, DNP, RN, CPNP-PC

Assistant Professor/BSN Coordinator Texas Lutheran University Seguin, Texas

Janice Long, PhD, RN

Professor of Nursing (retired) Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Janet Memark, MD, MPH, FACP

Medical Director, WellStar Community Health Clinics

Marietta, Georgia

David B. Mitchell, PhD

Associate Dean, College of Health and Human Services

Distinguished Scholar in Gerontology and Professor of Health, Physical Education, and Sport Science

Kennesaw State University

Kennesaw, Georgia

Kennesaw, Georgia

Monica Nandan, PhD

Director of Strategic Partnerships and Social Impact Professor of Social Work and Human Services Kennesaw State University

Dula F. Pacquiao, EdD, RN, CTN-A, TNS

Consultant

Transcultural Nursing Education, Research and Practice

Adjunct Lecturer, University of Hawai'i Hilo School of Nursing and Rutgers University School of Nursing

Larry Purnell, PhD, RN, FAAN

Professor Emeritus, University of Delaware Adjunct Professor, Florida International University Consulting Faculty, Excelsior College

Professor, Università di Modena, Italy

Richard L. Sowell, PhD, RN, FAAN

Professor Emeritus of Nursing Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Gloria A. Taylor, DNS, RN

Professor of Nursing Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Orly Toren, PhD, RN

Associate Director for Development Research in Nursing Hadassah Medical Center Jerusalem, Israel

Astrid H. Wilson, DNS, RN

Professor of Nursing Kennesaw State University Kennesaw, Georgia

Anelise Zamarripa-Zoucha, BSN, RN

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Rick D. Zoucha, PhD, APRN-BC, CT, FAAN

Professor of Nursing Duquesne University Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

REVIEWERS

Sibyl Edward, PT, DPT, RPT

Adjunct Lecturer, Post-Professional tDPT Program Utica College Utica, New York

Samantha Marocco, PT, DPT, MS, GCS

Assistant Professor, Post-Professional tDPT Program Utica College Utica, New York

Carole A. Pepa, RN, PhD

Professor Emeritus Valparaiso University Valparaiso, Indiana

L. Jane Rosati, EdD, MSN, RN, ANEF

Professor Daytona State College Daytona Beach, Florida

Christal Saffee, DNP, MSN, RN, FNP-C

Assistant Professor/Family Nurse Practitioner Maria College Albany, New York

Lori Theodore, EdD, MSN, RN, CNE

Professor of Nursing Seminole State College of Florida Sanford, Florida

Pat Thompson, DNP, APRN-CNP, FNP-C

DNP Program Director, Associate Professor Northwestern Oklahoma State University Alva, Oklahoma

Shelly Wells, PhD, MBA, APRN-CNS, ANEF

Division of Nursing Chair and Professor Northwestern Oklahoma State University Alva, Oklahoma

SECTION

GLOBAL HEALTH
ISSUES, POLICY,
AND HEALTHCARE
DELIVERY

Global Health: An Introduction

Carol Holtz, PhD, RN with contributions by Janet Memark, MD, MPH, FACP

Objectives

After completing this chapter, the reader will be able to:

- 1. Define global health.
- 2. Identify global health terminology, agencies, and significant historical events.
- **3.** Relate the state of the world's population growth and relevance to world health.
- **4.** Discuss the Sustainable Development Goals and the latest progress made toward their attainment.
- 5. Relate reasons for health and healthcare disparities worldwide.
- **6.** Define indices of health.
- 7. Compare and contrast the universal "right to health care" and realistic global healthcare access.
- **8.** Relate global health and healthcare priorities.
- **9.** Discuss the current opioid epidemic issues.
- **10.** Discuss the issues related to global migration of healthcare workers.

WHAT IS GLOBAL HEALTH?

Global health is an area of study, research, and practice that places a priority on improving health and achieving equity in health for all people worldwide. It is determined by problems, issues, and concerns that transcend national boundaries, and it emphasizes transnational health issues, determinants, and solutions. Global health involves many disciplines within and beyond the health sciences and promotes interdisciplinary collaboration. It is focused on people across the whole planet, rather than the concerns of particular nations. Global health includes the

worldwide improvement of health, reduction of disparities, and protection against global threats that disregard national borders (Beaglehole & Bonita, 2010; De Cock et al., 2013; Koplan et al., 2009; Macfarlane et al., 2008).

Globalization

Globalization is the increased interconnectedness and interdependence of people and countries. In the 1960s, the World Bank first advocated global thinking in regard to health issues with the phrase, "Think globally and act locally" (Beaglehole & Yach, 2003). There are negative aspects to globalization, which include global warming, cross-border pollution, financial crises, international crime, and the spread of human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immune deficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS) and the Ebola virus.

The globalization of disease began with the European explorers and conquerors who came to the Americas and spread smallpox, measles, and yellow fever among the various indigenous populations. They also brought typhus, influenza, and the plague. The poorest were the most vulnerable, whereas the small groups of elite, wealthy people had better nutrition, better health care, and better sanitary (hygienic) conditions. More recently, the spread of HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis (TB), severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), West Nile virus, Ebola virus, and other infectious diseases have emerged as global concerns. The rapid movement of people and food products as a result of travel has also created new health problems, such as mad cow disease (bovine spongiform encephalopathy, or BSE) and avian influenza. Globalization has recently changed the lifestyles of developing countries, resulting in new chronic diseases from the importation of high-sodium, high-fat fast foods, along with the more sedentary lifestyles promoted by technologies (e.g., TV, appliances). In addition, in developing countries today, populations are rapidly acquiring chronic diseases (such as heart disease, cancer, stroke, and obesity leading to diabetes), which are adding a double burden of disease given the still challenging acute infectious diseases (Beaglehole & Yach, 2003).

SELECTED GLOBAL INFECTIOUS DISEASES Tuberculosis

TB remains a high-burden disease. Globally, TB incidence declined from 173 new and relapse cases per 100,000 in 2000 to 140 per 100,000 in 2016. The TB mortality rate among HIV-negative people fell by 39% during the same period. Although millions of people are diagnosed and successfully treated for TB each year, large gaps in case notification persist, and drug-resistant TB continues. In 2016, there were 600,000 new cases of TB that were resistant to rifampicin (the most effective first-line drug) of which 490,000 were multidrug resistant (World Health Organization [WHO], 2018a).

Hepatitis B and C

In 2015, an estimated 325 million people worldwide were living with hepatitis B virus (HBV) or hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection, which causes a risk of slow progression to severe liver disease and death unless timely testing and treatments are provided. Most of the burden of disease due

to HBV infection results from infections acquired before the age of 5. The widespread use of hepatitis B vaccine in infants has considerably reduced the incidence of new chronic HBV infections. Unsafe healthcare procedures and injection-drug use are the major routes of HCV transmission (WHO, 2018a).

Neglected Tropical Diseases

Neglected tropical diseases (NTDs) are a group of diseases characterized by their spread in tropical environments, usually in poverty areas, where multiple infections in a single individual are common. About 1.5 billion people required mass or individual treatment and care for NTDs in 2016, down from 2 billion people in 2010. Progress is occurring; in 2016, diseases eliminated at the country level included lymphatic filariasis in Cambodia, onchocerciasis (river blindness) in Guatemala, and trachoma in Morocco. More than 1 billion people living in middle- and high-income countries still required treatment and care for NTDs (WHO, 2018a).

Cholera

Cholera, an acute diarrheal infection caused by ingestion of food or water contaminated with the bacterium *Vibrio cholera*, is extremely virulent. Cholera has a very short incubation period, between 12 hours and 5 days, and affects all ages. If left untreated, cholera can kill within hours. Cholera remains a serious threat to public health. It is also an indicator of inequality and lack of social and economic development, disproportionately affecting the world's poorest and most vulnerable populations. Cholera transmission is closely linked to inadequate access to clean water and sanitation facilities. Most of the countries that reported locally transmitted cholera cases to WHO during the period 2011–2015 were those in which only a limited proportion of the population had access to basic drinking water and sanitation service. In 2017, the Global Task Force on Cholera Control released a global strategy, Ending Cholera; the strategy is a global roadmap to 2030 and aims to reduce cholera deaths by 90% and eliminate cholera in up to 20 countries. Achieving universal and equitable access to safe drinking water and adequate sanitation and hygiene will be the key long-term interventions in controlling cholera and other waterborne diseases (WHO, 2018a).

Nipah Virus

Nipah virus (NiV) is a zoonotic virus (transmitted from animals to humans) that can also be transmitted through contaminated food or direct contact between people. In infected people, it causes a range of illnesses from asymptomatic infection to acute respiratory illness and fatal encephalitis. The virus can also cause severe disease in animals such as pigs, resulting in significant economic losses for farmers.

Nipah virus (NiV) encephalitis was first reported in Sungai Nipah in Malaysia in 1999 and has emerged as a global public health threat in the Southeast Asia region. From 1998 to 2018, more than 630 cases of NiV human infections were reported. NiV is transmitted from bats to humans or from bats to pigs and then to humans, as well as through human-to-human routes. Deforestation and urbanization of some areas have contributed to greater overlap between

human and bat habitats, resulting in NiV outbreaks. Common symptoms of NiV infection in humans are similar to those of influenza, such as fever and muscle pain; in some cases, inflammation of the brain occurs, leading to encephalitis (Chatta et al., 2018; WHO, 2018c).

The NiV epidemic in May 2018 in Kerala, India killed more than 17 people in 7 days, with high case fatality. The diagnosis of NiV often is not suspected at the time of occurrence, which creates challenges regarding outbreak detection, implementation of timely control measures, and conducting outbreak response activities. Currently, no drugs or vaccines specific for NiV infection have been developed, although this is a priority disease on WHO's agenda (Chatta et al., 2018; WHO, 2018c).

A New Threat

On December 31, 2019, the World Health Organization (WHO) China Country Office was notified of cases of pneumonia of unknown etiology detected in Wuhan, China. In the next 3 days, a total of 44 cases would be identified. Early reports traced the origin to a seafood market in that region. One week later, the causative pathogen was identified as a novel coronavirus, later named COVID-19. The virus can attack lung cells due to their many receptor entries, and the presence of the virus in host cells stimulates a variety of protective responses, causing pneumonia and acute respiratory syndrome (Astuti & Ysrafil, 2020). For this reason, it is also referred to as Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2).

By January 13, just two weeks after initial detection, Thailand reported its first case, followed by Japan and South Korea on January 15 and 20, respectively (World Health Organization [WHO], 2020c). By January 22, 2020, WHO issued a statement regarding evidence of humanto-human transmission. One week later, this global health body convened and assessed the limited human-to-human transmission found outside China and officially called the outbreak a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (WHO, 2020d).

On March 11, 2020, there were 113,319 cases of COVID-19 diagnosed worldwide. It had spread to more than 113 countries, resulting in 1,130 confirmed deaths. Because of "the alarming levels of spread and severity and the alarming levels of inactivity," WHO proclaimed COVID-19 a pandemic (WHO, 2020a). The last pandemic, the H1N1 influenza, was in 2009; in retrospect, it was not found to be as severe as COVID-19 appears to be (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2018).

The Pathogen

COVID-19 is thought to be a highly infectious contagion spread through droplet transmission. The lack of immunity seen worldwide with no treatment or vaccine led to a frenetic race for containment. China shared the genetic sequence of the virus within the first 2 weeks of detection to allow for the development of diagnostic tests and possibly a vaccine. The rapid transmission of the virus quickly overwhelmed both public health and medical systems. We watched as China and Hubei Province quickly pivoted from the containment strategy to community mitigation, and then an expansive quarantine and shelter-in-place. The swift response in China included the building of two separate hospitals in 10 days to accommodate the overwhelming numbers of patients stricken with the illness.

In the few short weeks that ensued, COVID-19 proved to be a formidable enemy. Much was learned about the virus in the coming weeks, including that almost 80% of patients seemed to have mild to moderate symptoms, while up to 20% of people would show severe symptoms requiring hospitalization and often mechanical ventilatory support. The virus appeared to spare children and disproportionately affect the elderly and people with chronic medical conditions (CDC, 2020a). In the first few days of April 2020, WHO (2020b) reported evidence of preasymptomatic and then asymptomatic transmission. This new information further complicated the containment efforts.

The United States Response

The first case of COVID-19 in the United States was thought to be detected on January 21, 2020, related to a case in Wuhan. A test was being developed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and testing in the country at this time was limited. By January 30, the first case of person-to-person transmission was identified, and on January 31, the president of the United States declared a public health emergency (The White House, 2020). The first federal quarantine in more than 50 years was established for travelers returning from China. The first death in the country was identified on postmortem testing February 6 (Santa Clara County, 2020). At this time, testing continued to be severely limited, and test kits sent from the CDC were found to be flawed.

By mid-March, the United States had more than 1,000 cases of COVID-19. President Trump declared a national emergency and offered guidelines for 15 days of sheltering in place to slow the pace of the virus transmission.

As of May 9, 2020, more than 4.5 million cases of the SARS-CoV-2 novel coronavirus have been detected worldwide, with over 300,000 deaths. More than 1.4 million cases were recorded in the United States by May 10, 2020, with over 86,000 deaths. It is difficult to judge the country's response to the COVID-19 pandemic, but lessons have definitely been learned along the way.

Opportunities and Challenges

Pandemics and threats to global health and security are what public health prepares for every day. It was not a surprise that a respiratory virus would reach pandemic levels and claim the lives of hundreds of thousands of people throughout the world. Experts around the world have felt that a respiratory virus would be the cause of the next pandemic and modeled preparation efforts around a pandemic influenza. We have been tested multiple times in each of our lifetimes for this to happen—from the Middle East respiratory syndrome in 2002–2003 to the H1N1 pandemic in 2009. The very nature of COVID-19, from its respiratory and asymptomatic spread, seems to have been designed to challenge everything that we have prepared for up to this point.

Although we have not yet reached the end of this crisis, barriers in the response have definitely caused delays and led to much-needed time lost. Even before the first case of COVID-19 was identified in the United States on January 21, the United States was working on an effective test for COVID-19 through the CDC. At that time, only limited numbers of public health

labs were performing tests for COVID-19 using stringent screening guidelines and testing only the highest risk patients—even as borders remained open, and air travel continued from other countries fighting mounting battles against COVID-19. On February 28, the United States learned from the CDC about a flaw in the test kits they were working on; the Food and Drug Administration then opened up testing efforts by issuing emergency authorization procedures to commercial companies the next day (CDC, 2020b; U.S. Food and Drug Administration, 2020). By this time, the global effect of the supply chain was inevitably felt. Delays in the ability to procure swabs, reagents, and laboratory results continued to mount. Even at the 3-month mark of the crisis, in some areas of the country, testing delays continue.

The Future

Various areas of the United States are in different stages of reopening at this time, and public health officials continue to fight COVID-19 through identification, isolation, and mitigation efforts. The worldwide economic crisis has put great pressure on reopening the country and even greater pressure on having the necessary public health tools to do so safely. The United States as a whole faces a crisis of outbreaks in nursing homes and various other industries, as it struggles with emerging health disparities. Reports across the United States reveal disproportionately high numbers of African Americans dying from COVID-19, and the CDC reported that more than 80% of hospitalized patients in metro Atlanta were black (Gold et al., 2020; van Dorn et al., 2020).

Public health systems continue to try to keep the disease at manageable levels, although a vaccine or some effective treatment remains beyond their reach at this time. The balance to save lives while supporting an economy trying to reopen has been a difficult one and will continue to be so until significant immunity has been established or an effective vaccine is developed.

GLOBAL NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES

In 2016, an estimated 41 million deaths occurred that were due to noncommunicable diseases (NCDs), resulting in 71% of the overall total of 57 million deaths. The majority of such deaths were caused by the four main NCDs: cardiovascular disease (17.9 million deaths, accounting for 44% of all NCD deaths); cancer (9.0 million deaths, 22%); chronic respiratory disease (3.8 million deaths, 9%); and diabetes (1.6 million deaths) (WHO, 2018b).

ROAD TRAFFIC ACCIDENTS

The newly adopted 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development set a target of halving the global number of deaths and injuries from road traffic crashes by 2020. Without prevention measures, road traffic crashes are predicted to become the seventh leading cause of death by 2030. Road traffic accidents cost most countries 3% of their gross domestic product (GDP). Nearly half of those dying on the world's roads are pedestrians, cyclists, and motorcyclists. Ninety percent of the world's fatalities on the roads occur in low- and middle-income countries, even though these countries have approximately 54% of the world's vehicles. Road traffic injuries are the leading cause of death among people aged between 15 and 29 years (WHO, 2018d).

MALNUTRITION AND OBESITY

Many parts of the world are facing a "double burden" of malnutrition, where undernutrition coexists with overweight and obesity. Obesity in childhood and adolescence is associated with a higher risk of adult obesity and with premature death and disability due to NCDs such as coronary heart disease in adulthood. In addition, obese children can also experience hypertension, diabetes, asthma and other respiratory problems, sleep disorders, liver disease, and psychological problems such as low self-esteem. There has been a global increase in the number of obese children and adolescents aged 5–19 years in the past four decades, from 11 million in 1975 to 124 million in 2016. An additional 213 million were overweight in 2016 but fell below the threshold for obesity. Almost 1 in every 5 children were overweight or obese globally. Although high-income countries continue to have the highest prevalence, the rate at which obesity among children and adolescents aged 5–19 years is increasing is much faster in lower income countries (WHO, 2018b).

ENVIRONMENTAL RISKS

Access to clean fuels and technologies for cooking has slightly improved, and in 2016, the rate reached 59% globally—an increase of 10 percentage points since 2000. In 2018, population growth continued to outpace the use of clean fuels and technologies in many countries, and more than 3 billion people are still cooking with polluting stove and fuel combinations.

Unsafe drinking water, unsafe sanitation, and lack of hygiene also remain important causes of deaths. The WHO African Region suffers a disproportionate burden from such deaths, with a mortality rate 4 times the global rate (WHO, 2018b).

UNINTENTIONAL POISONINGS

Unintentional poisonings caused more than 100,000 deaths in 2016. Although the number of deaths from unintentional poisonings has steadily declined since 2000, mortality rates continue to be relatively high in low-income countries. Unintentional poisoning can be caused by household chemicals, pesticides, kerosene, carbon monoxide, and medicines, or can be the result of environmental contamination or occupational chemical exposure (WHO, 2018b).

MENTAL HEALTH

Almost 8 million deaths by suicide occurred in 2016. Men are 75% more likely than women to die as a result of suicide. Suicide deaths occur in adolescents and adults of all ages.

There is increased awareness of the importance of mental health for global health, largely driven by new data describing the substantial global burden of disease and economic costs associated with mental disorders. The majority of cases are left untreated because of scarcity of services, local barriers to access, and disproportionately low investments in mental health care (WHO, 2018b).

More progress in reducing the global burden of mental disorders will require increased collective, multilateral commitments. The United Nations' (UN's) 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development Goals now includes mental health within one health-related goal (unlike its

predecessor, the UN's Millennium Development Goals). Significant challenges remain, considering the disease burden and treatment gap, as well as the pervasive stigmatization, discrimination, and human rights violations against those with mental disorders (WHO, 2018b).

GLOBAL OPIOID EPIDEMIC

Opioids are psychoactive substances derived from the opium poppy or their synthetic analogues. Examples are morphine and heroin. An estimated 27 million people suffered from opioid use disorders in 2016. The majority of people dependent on opioids used illicitly cultivated and manufactured heroin, but an increasing proportion used prescription opioids. About 450,000 people died as a result of drug use in 2015. Of those deaths, about 160,000 were directly associated with drug use disorders, and about 118,000 with opioid use disorders (WHO, 2018e).

Overdose deaths contribute to between one-third and one-half of all drug-related deaths, which are attributable, in most cases, to opioids. Lifetime prevalence of overdose among drug users is about 70%. There are effective treatments for opioid dependency, yet less than 10% of people who need such treatment are receiving it. Because of their pharmacological effects, opioids in high doses can cause respiratory depression and death. The inexpensive medication naloxone can completely reverse the effects of opioid overdose and prevent deaths due to opioid overdose (WHO, 2018e).

U.S. OPIOID CRISIS

The United States has been at the forefront of prescription opioid consumption. In 2009, the United States consumed 99% of the world's hydrocodone, 60% of the world's hydromorphone, and 81% of the world's oxycodone.

Many factors contribute to high rates of prescribing, including a lack of consensus regarding the appropriate use and dosing of these medicines, and demand for the products among patients who have opioid dependency or are otherwise abusing or diverting these products. Most of this epidemic is caused by the inappropriate treatment of pain. This is especially true for the management of chronic pain, which affects 1 in 5 adults worldwide, and for which there has been much misunderstanding regarding effective treatments (WHO, 2018e).

More than 100 Americans die from opioid-related overdoses each day. In October 2017, President Donald Trump declared the opioid crisis a national public health emergency. To date, more than 600,000 Americans have died as a result of opioid-related overdoses, and by 2020, this number is expected to surpass 750,000 (Gostin et al., 2017).

Example: The Opioid Crisis in the U.S. State of Georgia

Similar to national trends, deaths related to opioid overdose continue to rise in the state of Georgia in the United States. Recent data from the Georgia Department of Public Health indicate that deaths related to drug overdose are now almost equal to deaths due to motor vehicle crashes. Opioids, primarily prescription pain relievers and heroin, are the main driver of drug overdose deaths (Gostin et al., 2017; National Institutes of Health [NIH], 2018).

The Georgia Department of Public Health reported that from 2010 to 2017, the total number of opioid-related overdose deaths increased by 245%. Starting in 2013, illegal opioids such as heroin and fentanyl resulted in the increase in opioid-related overdose deaths to unprecedented levels. In 2017, a total of 1,620 drug overdose deaths occurred in Georgia, and 1,043 were attributed to opioids. Opioid overdose death rates increased from 4.3 to 10.1 per 100,000 people. Georgia also experienced a 17% increase in heroin-involved overdose deaths and an approximately 53% increase in fentanyl-involved overdose deaths (Gostin et al., 2017; NIH, 2018).

VIOLENCE

Low- and lower middle-income countries often have higher mortality rates as compared with developed countries worldwide. An estimated 477,000 murders occurred globally in 2016, with four-fifths of all homicide victims being male. Men in the WHO Region of the Americas suffered the highest rate of homicide deaths, at 31.8 per 100,000; this was down from 33.5 per 100,000 in 2000 (WHO, 2018f). See Chapter 13 for greater detail on this topic.

GLOBAL LIFE EXPECTANCY

Life expectancy at birth is defined as the length of years, on average, a newborn can expect to live if current death rates do not change. However, the actual age-specific death rate of any particular birth cohort cannot be known in advance. Life expectancy at birth is one of the most frequently used health status indicators. Gains in life expectancy at birth can be attributed to rising living standards, improved lifestyle, and better education, as well as greater access to quality health services. This indicator is measured in years (Infoplease, 2018).

Life expectancy is perhaps the most important measure of health. Life expectancy increases because of healthcare improvements such as the introduction of vaccines, the development of drugs, or positive behavior changes such as reducing smoking or drinking rates. Comparing life expectancies from birth across countries can be problematic. There are differing definitions of live birth versus stillbirth even among more developed countries, and less developed countries often have poor reporting (Infoplease, 2018).

Countries with the Highest Life Expectancy in 2018

- 1. Hong Kong SAR 84.3 years
- **2.** Japan 83.8 years.
- **3.** Italy 83.5 years.
- **4.** Spain 83.4 years.

The average global life expectancy at birth was 72.0 years in 2016. Africa is the only continent with 21 nations where the average life expectancy is below 60 years. The lowest life expectancy of all is found in Sierra Leone, with 50.1 years, followed by Angola, Central African Republic, Chad, Ivory Coast, and Lesotho (Infoplease, 2018).

Global Rates for Life and Death Expectancies

Throughout the world there are many variations in life and death expectancies. In general, the world rates are as follows:

- 1. World life expectancy rate: males: 68.09 years, females: 70.24 years.
- **2.** *World birth rate*: 18.9 births per 1,000. The total fertility rate (2014) ranges from 7.35 births per woman in Niger, to 6.57 in Uganda, to 2.22 in Peru.
- 3. World death rate: 7.9 deaths per 1,000. The world range leads in South Africa and Russia, with 17.23 deaths per 1,000 and 16.03 deaths per 1,000, respectively, to the United Arab Emirates and Qatar, with 2.04 deaths per 1,000 and 1.55 deaths per 1,000, respectively.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS Background

The Sustainable Development Goals document developed by the United Nations (2018) is the latest blueprint to achieve a better and more sustainable future for all. The goals address global challenges, including those related to poverty, inequality, climate, environmental degradation, prosperity, and peace and justice. The goals interconnect, and to ensure that no one is left behind, it is important that we achieve each goal and target by 2030. World leaders adopted the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, which aims to end poverty, address inequalities, and combat climate change.

Goals

Goal 1: No Poverty

Global poverty rates have been cut by more than half since 2000. Ten percent of people in developing regions are still living with their families on less than \$1.90 USD a day, the international poverty line amount. However, millions more make barely more than this (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 2: Zero Hunger and Food Security

Hunger. Globally, 1 in 9 people today (815 million) are undernourished, and the majority of the world's hungry people live in developing countries, where 12.9% of the population is undernourished (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 3: Ensure Healthy Lives and Promote Well-Being for All at All Ages

Ensuring healthy lives and promoting their well-being at all ages is essential to sustainable development for the world's population. Great work has been done in increasing life expectancy and reducing some of the common causes associated with child and maternal mortality. The goal is to have fewer than 70 maternal deaths per 100,000 live births by 2030 (United Nations, 2018).

Child Health. 17,000 fewer children die each day than in 1990, but more than 5 million children still die before their 5th birthday each year. Since 2000, measles vaccines have prevented

nearly 15.6 million deaths, with a greater proportion of child deaths occurring in sub-Saharan Africa (United Nations, 2018).

Maternal Health. Maternal mortality has been reduced by 37% since 2000. In Eastern Asia, Northern Africa, and Southern Asia, maternal mortality has declined by around two-thirds. However, the maternal mortality ratio—the proportion of mothers who do not survive child-birth compared with those who do in developing regions—is still 14 times higher than in the developed regions (United Nations, 2018).

HIV/AIDS, Malaria and Other Diseases. Globally, approximately 36.9 million people were living with HIV in 2017, and 21.7 million HIV-positive people were utilizing antiretroviral therapy in that year. TB remains the leading cause of death among people living with HIV, accounting for 1 in 3 AIDS-related deaths. Greater than 6.2 million malaria deaths have been avoided between 2000 and 2015, primarily in children under 5 years of age in sub-Saharan Africa (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 4: Quality Education

More than 265 million children are not attending school, and 22% of them are of primary school age. Many children who are attending schools are lacking basic skills in reading and math (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 5: Achieve Gender Equality and Empower All Women and Girls

Gender equality is not only a fundamental human right, but also a necessary foundation for a peaceful, prosperous, and sustainable world. Women and girls need equal access to education, health care, decent work, and representation in political and economic decision-making processes (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 6: Ensure Access to Water and Sanitation for All

Clean, accessible water for all is essential. Water scarcity, poor water quality, and inadequate sanitation negatively impact food security, livelihood choices, and educational opportunities for poor families across the world (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 7: Affordable and Clean Energy

Approximately 3 billion people lack access to clean cooking solutions and are exposed to dangerous levels of air pollution. One billion people are functioning without electricity, and 50% of them are found in sub-Saharan Africa alone (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth

Fifty percent of the world's population still live on the equivalent of about \$2 USD a day, and the global unemployment rate is 5.7%. A continued lack of decent work opportunities, insufficient investments, and underconsumption have led to an erosion of the basic social contract underlying democratic societies: that all must share in progress (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 9: Build Resilient Infrastructure, Promote Sustainable Industrialization and Foster Innovation

Investments in infrastructure such as transport, irrigation, energy, and information and communication technology are crucial to achieving sustainable development and empowering communities in many countries. In addition, manufacturing is an important stimulant for economic development and employment. Basic infrastructure like roads, information and communication technologies, sanitation, electrical power and water very much need to be increased in many developing countries (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 10: Reduce Inequality Within and Among Countries

Economic growth is not sufficient to reduce poverty if it is not inclusive and if it does not involve sustainable development among countries (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 11: Make Cities Inclusive, Safe, Resilient and Sustainable

By 2030, more people will be living within cities. Included with greater urbanization will be congestion, lack of funds to provide basic services, a shortage of adequate housing, a declining infrastructure, and rising air pollution within cities (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 12: Ensure Sustainable Consumption and Production Patterns

Greater resources, energy efficiency, sustainable infrastructures, and providing access to basic services are needed now and will be needed in the future as well (United Nations, 2018).

Water. The world's population must rely on only 0.5% of the world's water and freshwater is needed. Yet, people are polluting water in rivers and lakes faster than nature can recycle and purify it (United Nations, 2018).

Energy. A 32% increase in vehicle ownership is expected by 2020. Households consume 29% of global energy and consequently contribute to 21% of resultant carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions (United Nations, 2018).

Food. Each year, about one-third of all food ends up rotting in the bins of consumers and retailers or spoiling because of poor transportation and harvesting practices.

Goal 13: Take Urgent Action to Combat Climate Change and Its Impacts

Climate change is now affecting every country on every continent and is disrupting national economies and affecting lives, costing people, communities, and countries (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 14: Conserve and Sustainably Use the Oceans, Seas and Marine Resources

Rainwater, drinking water, weather, climate, much of our food, and oxygen in the air are all ultimately provided and regulated by the sea. Careful management of water and the climate are important for a sustainable future (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 15: Sustainably Manage Forests, Combat Desertification, Halt and Reverse Land Degradation, Halt Biodiversity Loss

Forests, which cover 30.7% of the Earth's surface, provide food, security, and shelter, and are key to combating climate change and protecting biodiversity and the homes of indigenous populations (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 16: Promote Peace, Justice, and Strong Institutions

For greater world peace and inclusive societies, more efficient and transparent regulations need to be established. Challenges to justice systems worldwide are important and significant (United Nations, 2018).

Goal 17: Revitalize the Global Partnership for Sustainable Development

Partnerships between governments and private sectors are needed to build shared goals for the total world population. These include sustainable energy, infrastructure and transport, and information and communications technologies.

GLOBAL HEALTH DISPARITIES

A *health disparity* is a statistically significant difference in health indicators that persists over time. Health disparities are comparative measurements of the burden of disease, as well as morbidity and mortality rates, in specific populations. *Healthcare disparities* are differences in access to appropriate healthcare services by various groups; these differences are due to a multitude of factors but are mainly associated with social inequalities. Disparities in access to quality and timely healthcare services contribute to the disparities in health status. Poorer health status compromises the ability of some groups to obtain timely and appropriate health services. Health and healthcare disparities exist worldwide, affecting both developed and developing countries. In contrast to developed countries, developing nations have a lower level of material well-being based on per capita income, life expectancy, and rate of literacy. These nations are also referred to as "less economically developed," "Third World," "developing," "lower income nations," or "resource-poor countries." In contrast, developed nations are also called "industrialized societies," "advanced economies," and "higher income nations" (King et al., 2013).

INDICES (INDICATORS) OF HEALTH DISPARITIES

Health indicators are quantifiable characteristics of a population that researchers use as supporting evidence for describing the health of a population; they are often used by governments to guide healthcare policy.

1. Burden of disease. The impact of a health problem in an area measured by financial cost, mortality, morbidity, or other indicators. It is often quantified in terms of quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs), which allow for comparison of disease burden that is due to various risk factors or diseases. This measurement also makes it possible to predict the possible impact

- of health interventions. WHO provides a detailed explanation of how disease burden is measured at local and national levels for various environmental contexts. The global burden of disease is shifting from infectious diseases to noncommunicable diseases—including chronic conditions such as heart disease and stroke, which are now the chief causes of death globally.
- 2. *Mortality rate*. The number of deaths in a population, scaled to the size of that population, per unit of time. This rate is expressed in units of deaths per 1,000 people per year; thus, a mortality rate of 9.5 in a population of 100,000 would mean 950 deaths per year in that entire population.
- **3.** *Infant mortality rate (IMR).* The number of deaths of infants (1 year of age or younger) per 1,000 live births. The IMR is a useful indicator of a country's level of health or development.
- 4. Morbidity rate. The number of individuals in poor health during a given time or number who currently have that disease (prevalence rate), scaled to the size of the population. This rate takes into account the state of poor health, the degree or severity of a health condition, and the total number of cases in a particular population during a particular point in time, irrespective of cause.
- **5.** *Life expectancy.* The average number of years of life remaining at a given age or average life span or average length of survival in a specified population; the expected age to be reached before death for a given population in a country, based on the year of birth or other demographic variables.
- 6. Birth rate. The number of childbirths per 100,000 people per year.
- 7. *Total fertility rate*. The average number of children born to each woman over the course of her life. Fertility rates tend to be higher in developing countries and lower in more economically developed countries.
- **8.** *Disability*. The lack of ability relative to a personal or group standard or spectrum. It may involve physical, sensory, cognitive, or intellectual impairment, or a mental disorder; it may occur during a person's lifetime or be present from birth.
- 9. Nutritional status. A factor influenced by diet, levels of nutrients in the body, and ability to maintain normal metabolic integrity. Body fat may be estimated by measuring skinfold thickness and muscle diameter; levels of vitamins and minerals are measured based on their serum levels, through urine concentration of nutrients and their metabolites, or by testing for specific metabolic responses.

Health Disparities in the United States

Many populations in the United States, whether defined by race, ethnicity, immigrant status, disability, sex, gender, or geography, experience higher rates of certain diseases and more deaths and suffering from them compared with the general population. Although the diversity of the American population is one of the nation's greatest assets, one of its greatest challenges is reducing the profound disparity in health status of its racial and ethnic minorities and rural, low-income, and other underserved populations (NIH, 2018).

Health disparities may be defined more narrowly as persistent gaps between the health status of minorities and nonminorities that continue despite advances in health care and technology. In the United States, ethnic minorities have higher rates of disease, disability, and premature deaths than nonminorities. Compared with nonminority groups, African Americans, Hispanics/Latinos, American Indians and Alaska Natives, Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and Pacific Islanders all have higher rates of infant mortality, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, HIV/AIDS, and cancer, as well as lower rates of immunizations and cancer screenings. Such disparities arise for a number of reasons:

- Inadequate access to health care. Caused by economic, geographic, and/or linguistic factors; lack of or decrease in health insurance and education; and poorer quality of health care. A person's ability to access health services has a profound effect on every aspect of his or her health, yet at the start of the decade, almost 1 in 4 Americans do not have a primary care provider (PCP) or health center where they can receive regular medical services. Approximately 1 in 5 Americans (children and adults under age 65) do not have medical insurance. People without medical insurance are more likely to lack a usual source of medical care, such as a PCP, and are more likely to skip routine medical care because of costs, increasing their risk for serious and disabling health conditions. When they do access health services, they are often burdened with large medical bills and out-of-pocket expenses. Access to health services affects a person's health and well-being. Regular and reliable access to health services can:
 - 1. Prevent disease and disability
 - **2.** Detect and treat illnesses or other health conditions
 - 3. Increase quality of life
 - 4. Reduce the likelihood of premature (early) death
 - **5.** Increase life expectancy
- Substandard quality of care/lower quality of care. Caused by patient–provider miscommunication, provider discrimination, and stereotyping or prejudice (NIH, 2018).

Global Healthcare Equity

Health equity is the absence of unfair and avoidable or remediable differences in health interventions and outcomes among groups of people. Data that are presented according to social, demographic, economic, or geographical factors can help to identify vulnerable populations and target health policies, programs, and practices. Health equity data provide an evidence base for equity-oriented interventions and are a key component of mainstreaming gender, equity, and human rights, as well as equity-oriented progress toward universal health coverage.

The Health Equity Monitor currently includes reproductive, maternal, newborn, and child health indicators disaggregated by education, economic status, place of residence (rural vs. urban), subnational region, and child's sex (WHO, 2016).

HUMAN RIGHTS TO HEALTH CARE

In order to promote human rights for health care, the following areas need to be addressed.

Access to Health Services

Having both a healthcare provider and medical insurance can prevent illness by improving access to a range of recommended preventive services across the life span—from childhood vaccinations to screening tests for cancer and chronic diseases such as diabetes and heart disease. Having a PCP and medical insurance also plays a vital role in finding health problems in their earliest, most treatable stages and managing a person through the course of the disease. Lacking access to health services, even for just a short period, can lead to poor health outcomes over time.

Services Needed by Children and Adolescents

- Routine checkups during infants' first year can ensure that they are keeping pace with developmental milestones and staying healthy.
- Regular doctor visits can monitor children and adolescents' healthy growth and development.
- Vaccinating children and adolescents on a recommended immunization schedule can protect them from serious diseases, including mumps, tetanus, and chicken pox.
- Screening for overweight and obesity can reduce children's and adolescents' risk of developing diabetes, heart disease, and cancer later in life.

Services Needed for Adults

- Monitoring and managing weight, blood pressure, and cholesterol can reduce adults' risk for developing heart disease and diabetes.
- Routine screening can detect certain cancers, such as breast, colorectal, and skin cancers, at earlier, more treatable stages.
- Screening for and treating sexually transmitted diseases can reduce the risk of serious and long-term health conditions, such as infertility.
- Regular checkups among adults aged 65 years and older can screen for health conditions that develop with age, such as eye diseases and hearing loss.

(WHO, 2017)

UNIVERSAL RIGHT TO HEALTH CARE

The right to health care under international law is the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights ("the Declaration"), which was unanimously accepted by the UN General Assembly as a common standard for the entire world's population. This declaration states that each person has a right to "a standard of living adequate for the health and well-being of himself and his family . . . including medical care and . . . the right to security in the event of . . . sickness, disability . . . or other lack of livelihood in circumstances beyond his control." The Declaration does not define the components of a right to health, but they are included in the statement regarding

medical care. Health is considered to extend beyond health care to include basic preconditions for health, such as potable water and adequate sanitation and nutrition. In addition, the right to health includes freedoms from nonconsensual medical treatment and experimentation (World Health Organization, 1948).

Within the WHO Constitution and the Declaration of Alma-Ata, health-related human rights have been encouraged. The human right to health has been addressed in international law and implemented through domestic law within numerous nations. The Framework Convention on Global Health states that the right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health can be a force to enable even the poorest people to benefit from immense health improvements that we know are possible—interventions that are proven and affordable (Gable & Meier, 2013).

Historically, the United States has not wanted to accept international human rights standards or pass the laws necessary to meet them. The United States is currently the only developed country in the world that does not have a plan for universal healthcare coverage and some type of legal right to health care for all its residents ("Here's a Map," 2012).

WHO FIGHTING EBOLA IN THE CONGO

The Ministry of Public Health of the Democratic Republic of the Congo (WHO, 2018g) announced the launch of Ebola vaccinations for high-risk populations in North Kivu province of the country. The vaccinations began just one week after the announcement of a second Ebola outbreak in the country in a year (2018). A total of 44 cases have been reported so far, of which 17 have been confirmed, and work has begun to prepare ring vaccination in the Mangina health area, 30 kilometers from the town of Beni. Dr. Oly Illunga, Minister of Health of the Democratic Republic of the Congo, stated, "Vaccines are an important tool in the fight against Ebola. This is why it has been a priority to move them rapidly into place to begin protecting our health workers and the affected population." A total of 3,220 doses of the rVSV-ZEBOV Ebola vaccine are currently available in the country, while supplementary doses have been requested. While the vaccine goes through the licensing process, an agreement between Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance and Merck, the developer of the vaccine, ensures that additional investigational doses of the vaccine are available. "The Democratic Republic of the Congo has once again demonstrated strong leadership in its early response to this outbreak," said Dr. Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus, Director-General of the World Health Organization (WHO, 2018h).

GLOBAL HEALTH WORKFORCE MIGRATIONS (BRAIN DRAIN)

A crisis presently exists in human resources. This is a major global health issue that threatens the quality and sustainability of healthcare systems throughout the world. Healthcare workers currently find many opportunities for employment abroad, and this has led to major migration of workers from low-income countries to higher income countries. Healthcare worker migration has major effects on the countries from which workers migrate (the sending countries), and the receiving countries greatly benefit. The sending countries experience negative effects, such

as shortages in health service capacity, financial loss because of the investment in training and educating the worker and the loss of income taxes paid to governments, decline in morale and commitment among remaining workers, loss of expert knowledge in academic centers, and loss of role models for young students. Donor countries ultimately suffer the most from brain drain.

The gains for recipient countries include relief of shortages of healthcare workers, improved quality of health care, and increased income taxes paid to governments. Some dispute this argument by saying that many healthcare workers eventually return to their native countries and bring back their gains in medical expertise and experience. WHO estimates an undersupply of almost 4.3 million doctors, midwives, nurses, and other healthcare professionals. High-income countries have an average of almost 90 nurses and midwives per 10,000 people, as compared with some low-income countries that have fewer than 2 per 10,000 people (Aluttis et al., 2014). This imbalance results in North America and Europe gaining 65% of healthcare workers yet bearing only 20% of global disease. Africa, in contrast, bears 24% of the health burden with only 3% of the global health workforce (Mackey & Liang, 2013).

SUMMARY

This introduction, which serves as a gateway to the rest of this text, has provided an overall perspective on various global health issues. We defined key terms and offered a brief discussion of global health history, the state of the world population, predictions of global health patterns, population growth issues, equity in accessing health care, emerging health threats, global health indicators, migration of healthcare workers, and global health and its relationship to moral values. Within the following chapters, we further address these and many more issues pertaining to global health.

Study Questions

- 1. What are some of the major health issues regarding the world population growth?
- 2. What are some causes of the numerous global health disparities?
- **3.** Why is it necessary for wealthier developed countries to share needed funds and technology to assist with developing countries' major health and healthcare problems?
- **4.** What are the Sustainable Developmental Goals (United Nations, 2018), and why is it important to note their progress worldwide?

Case Study: Unforeseen Costs of Cutting Mosquito Surveillance Budgets

A recent budget proposal to stop the funding for the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) surveillance and research for a mosquito-borne diseases program was found to have the potential to leave a country poorly prepared to handle mosquito-transmitted diseases. Its study showed that decreasing this type of program can significantly increase the management costs of epidemics and total costs of preparedness. The authors' findings demonstrated a justification for the reassessment of a current proposal to slash the budget of the CDC vector-borne diseases program and emphasized the need for improved and sustainable systems for vector-borne disease surveillance.

Case Study Questions

- 1. What do you think about the CDC making budget cuts for surveillance of and research on countries with mosquito-borne diseases?
- 2. Is money really saved in the long term for prevention and control of diseases, such as dengue and West Nile virus, by cutting the surveillance budget? What else could be done to save money?

Data from Vazquez-Prokopec, G., Chaves, L., Ritchie, S., Davis, J., & Kitron, U. (2010). Unforseen costs of cutting mosquito surveillance. *Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 4(10), 1–4.

References

- Astuti, I., & Ysrafil, Y. (2020). Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2): An overview of viral structure and host response. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*, 14(4), 407–412.
- Beaglehole, R., & Bonita, R. (2010). What is global health? *Global Health Action*, 3, 5142. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v3i0.5142
- Beaglehole, R., & Yach, D. (2003). Globalisation and the prevention and control of non-communicable disease: The neglected chronic disease of adults. *Lancet*, *362*, 903–908.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). *Influenza (flu): Past pandemics*. https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pandemic-resources/basics/past-pandemics.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020a, May 20). *Interim clinical guidance for management of patients with confirmed coronavirus disease (COVID-19)*. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/clinical-guidance-management-patients.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020b, February 28). Transcript for the CDC telebriefing update on COVID-19. https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2020/t0228-COVID-19-update.html
- Chatta, V., Kumar, R., Raman, K., Soosanna, K., Kajal, F., & David, J. (2018). Nipah virus in southern India and emphasizing "One Health" approach to ensure global health security. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 7(2), 275–283.
- Death rate. (2018). In IndexMundi. http://www.indexmundi.com/world/death_rate.html
- De Cock, K., Simone, P., Davison, V., & Slutsker, L. (2013). The new global health. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 19(8), 1192–1197.
- Gable, L., & Meier, B. (2013). Global health rights: Employing human rights to develop and implement the Framework Convention on Global Health. *Health and Human Rights*, 15(1), 17–31.
- Gold, J. A. W., Wong, K. W., Szablewski, C. M., Patel, P. R., Rossow, J., da Silva, J., Natarajan, P., Morris, S. B., Fanfair, R. N., Rogers-Brown, J., Bruce, B. B., Browning, S. D., Hernandez-Romieu, A. C., Furukawa, N. W., Kang, M., Evans, M. E., Oosmanally, N., Tobin-D'Angelo, M., Drenzek, C., . . . Jackson, B. R. (2020). Characteristics and clinical outcomes of adult patients hospitalized with COVID-19—Georgia, March 2020. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69(18), 545–550. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6918e1.htm?s_cid=mm6918e1_w
- Gostin, L. O., Hodge, J. G., & Noe, S. A. (2017). Reframing the opioid epidemic as a national emergency. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 318(16), 1539–1540. https://dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.13358
- Here's a map of the countries that provide universal health care (America's still not on it).
 - (2012, June 28). *The Atlantic*. http://www.theatlantic.com/international/archive/2012/06/
 - heres-a-map-of-the-countries-that-provide-universal-health-care-americas-still-not-on-it/259153/
- Infoplease. (2018). Life expectancies. In *Infoplease*. https://www.infoplease.com/world/health-and-social-statistics/life-expectancy-countries
- Kim, S., & Skordis-Worrall, J. (2017). Can voluntary pooled procurement reduce the price of antiretroviral drugs? A case study of Efavirenz. *Health Policy and Planning*, 32, 516–526. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czw165

- King, N., Harper, S., & Young, M. (2013). Who cares about health inequalities? Cross-country evidence from the World Health Survey. *Health Policy and Planning*, 28, 558–571.
- Koplan, J. P., Bond, T. C., Merson, M. H., Reddy, K. S., Rodriguez, M. H., Sewankambo, N. K., Wasserheit, J. N., & Consortium of Universities for Global Health Executive Board. (2009). Towards a common definition of global health. *Lancet*, 373(9679), 1993–1995.
- Macfarlane, S. B., Jacobs, M., & Kaaya E. E. (2008). In the name of global health: Trends in academic institutions. *Journal of Public Health Policy*, 29(4), 383–401.
- Mackey, T., & Liang, B. (2013). Restructuring brain drain: Strengthening governance and financing for health worker migration. *Global Health Action*, *6*, 1–7.
- National Institutes of Health. (2018). Health disparities in the United States. https://www.nih.gov/
- Santa Clara County. (2020). Novel coronavirus (COVID-19): County of Santa Clara identifies three additional early COVID-19 deaths. https://www.sccgov.org/sites/covid19/Pages/press-release-04-21-20-early.aspx
- United Nations. (2018). UN Sustainable Developmental Goals. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2020). *Emergency use authorization*. https://www.fda.gov/emergency-preparedness-and-response/mcm-legal-regulatory-and-policy-framework/emergency-use-authorization
- van Dorn, A., Cooney, R. E., & Sabin, M. L. (2020). COVID-19 exacerbating inequalities in the U.S. *The Lancet, 395*. https://www.thelancet.com/action/showPdf?pii=S0140-6736%2820%2930893-X
- Vazquez-Prokopec, G., Chaves, L., Ritchie, S., Davis, J., & Kitron, U. (2010). Unforeseen costs of cutting mosquito surveillance budgets. *Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 4(10), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal .pntd.0000858
- The White House. (2020). Proclamation on declaring a national emergency concerning the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak. https://www.whitehouse.gov/presidential-actions/proclamation-declaring-national-emergency-concerning-novel-coronavirus-disease-covid-19-outbreak/
- World Health Organization (1948). Constitution of the World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/governance/eb/who_constitution_en.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2016). *Global health equity*. https://www.who.int/topics/health_equity/en/ World Health Organization. (2017). *Human rights and health*. http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/human-rights-and-health
- World Health Organization. (2018a). *Infectious diseases*. https://www.who.int/topics/infectious_diseases/en World Health Organization. (2018b). *Fact sheets: Non-communicable diseases*. https://www.who.int/topics/noncommunicable_diseases/factsheets/en/
- World Health Organization. (2018c). Nipah virus-India. https://www.who.int/csr/don/07-august-2018 -nipah-virus-india/en/
- World Health Organization. (2018d). *Road traffic accidents*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/road-traffic-injuries
- World Health Organization. (2018e). *Information sheet on opioid overdose*. https://www.who.int/substance_abuse/information-sheet/en/
- World Health Organization. (2018f). World report on violence and health. https://www.who.int/violence_injury_prevention/violence/world_report/en/
- World Health Organization. (2018g). Life expectancy. http://www.who.int/gho/publications/en/
- World Health Organization. (2018h). *Ebola virus disease*. http://www.who.int/news-room/feature-stories/detail/ebola-vaccine-provides-protection-and-hope-for-high-risk-communities-in-the-democratic-republic-of-the-congo
- World Health Organization. (2020a). Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) Situation Report-51. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200311-sitrep-51-covid-19.pdf?sfvrsn=1ba62e57_10
- World Health Organization. (2020b). Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) Situation Report-73. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200402-sitrep-73-covid-19.pdf

- World Health Organization. (2020c, January 21). *Novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) Situation Report-1*. https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200121-sitrep-1-2019-ncov. pdf?sfvrsn=20a99c10_4
- World Health Organization. (2020d). Statement on the second meeting of the International Health Regulations (2005) Emergency Committee regarding the outbreak of novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV). https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/30-01-2020-statement-on-the-second-meeting-of-the-international-health-regulations-(2005)-emergency-committee-regarding-the-outbreak-of-novel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov)

Global Health in Developed Societies: Examples in the United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom

Carol Holtz, PhD, RN

Objectives

After completing this chapter, the reader will be able to:

- 1. Compare and contrast population health statistics for the United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom.
- **2.** Compare and contrast the major health issues and healthcare systems of the United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom.
- **3.** Relate healthcare disparities within and among the United States, Sweden, Japan, and the United Kingdom.
- 4. Discuss the high rates of longevity for residents of Japan and Sweden.

INTRODUCTION

This chapter gives examples of developed countries and their major health issues and trends. These countries were chosen because they vary in terms of their healthcare systems, population health statistics, and geographic areas. We review many of the health issues in greater detail in other chapters of this text.

Many developed countries are currently working on controversial legal, religious, and ethical issues, as well as health disparities within their population, that directly relate to health care and healthcare delivery systems. Specifically, we will address the following topics:

- Access to health care for all residents
- Health disparities within populations

- 26
 - Issues of funding for nonlegal residents (illegal aliens) and healthcare services provided by government and nongovernment organizations
 - Options for termination of an unwanted pregnancy
 - Women's rights in determining what happens to their bodies (birth control, abortion, contraception, genital mutilation, sexual assault and/or abuse, sterilization, child molestation, prostitution)
 - Sex education in schools, clinics, and public health facilities

UNITED STATES

The United States of America was founded on July 4, 1776. It has a population of 325.72 million (2018 census), a gross domestic product (GDP) of \$19.39 trillion USD, and has 3.8 million square miles. Its capital is Washington, D.C. The United States of America is the third largest country (by population) in the world, falling far behind China (1.4 billion) and India (1.25 billion). Its most populous states are California (39.5 million) and Texas (27 million), and its most populous city is New York City (8.5 million) (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018a).

Location

The United States is located in North America, bordering both the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, between Canada to the north and Mexico to the south. It consists of 50 states and the District of Columbia.

Population

Racial/Ethnic Groups

The United States comprises numerous racial and ethnic groups (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018a):

- 1. White: 72.4%
- 2. Black (African American): 12.6%
- 3. Asian: 4.8%
- Amerindian and Alaska Native: 0.9%
- 5. Native Hawaiian and other Pacific Islander: 0.2%
- **6.** Other: 6.2%
- 7. Two or more races: 2.9%

Note: The United States Census Bureau also classifies Americans as Hispanic/Latino American, which is an ethnicity (not a race). This population constitutes the largest minority group in the nation. An estimated 16.3% of the total U.S. population is Hispanic, which means persons of Spanish/Hispanic/Latino origin; included in this classification are people of Mexican, Cuban, Puerto Rican, Dominican, Spain, and Central or South American origin living in the United States who may be of any race or ethnic group (white, black, Asian, etc.) (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018a).

The U.S. racial profile is predicted to be vastly different in the future; although whites will remain the single largest racial group in the United States, they will no longer be a majority.

Growth in the Hispanic and Asian populations is predicted to almost triple over the next 40 years. By 2055, the population is estimated to be 48% white, 24% Hispanic, 14% Asian, and 13% black (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018a).

Projected Immigration to the United States

The total number of foreign-born immigrants is projected to be 1.88 million in 2060. In 2060, just over 500,000 immigrants are expected to come from Asian countries, and about 400,000 are projected to come from Mexico. More than 300,000 are projected to come from Latin America, the Caribbean, and the South America region. Another 250,000 are projected to come from Europe, Canada, and Oceania. Immigrants from sub-Saharan Africa are projected to increase the most, rising from 93,000 in 2017 to more than 250,000 in 2060—surpassing immigration from Europe, Canada, and Oceania (U.S. Census Bureau, 2018a).

Economy

The United States has the most technologically powerful economy in the world, with a per capita GDP of \$57,300 USD. U.S. firms are at or near the top globally in technological advances, especially in the computer, pharmaceutical, medical, aerospace, and military equipment fields. In 2014, the U.S. economy slipped into second place behind China. China has more than tripled the rate of U.S. growth each year over the past four decades (Central Intelligence Agency [CIA], 2018c).

Trends and Issues

Life Expectancy

The new average life expectancy for Americans is 78.7 years overall, which puts the U.S. behind other developed nations. Life expectancy in years for U.S. ethnic/racial groups are:

- 1. Whites 78.9
- **2.** Blacks 74.6
- 3. Latinos 82.8
- 4. Asian Americans 86.5
- Native Americans 76.9 (Kaiser Family Foundation, 2018)

The major causes of death in the U.S. in 2018 were the following:

- 1. Heart disease
- 2. Cancer
- **3.** Unintended injury
- **4.** Chronic respiratory disease
- 5. Stroke
- **6.** Alzheimer's Disease
- 7. Diabetes

- **8.** Influenza and pneumonia
- **9.** Kidney disease
- 10. Suicide

(CDC, 2018a)

Healthy People 2020 and Healthy People 2030

In the United States, planning is now underway for Healthy People 2030. Each decade, the Healthy People initiative develops a new set of science-based 10-year national objectives with the goal of improving the health of all Americans. The development of Healthy People 2030 includes establishing a framework for the initiative's vision, mission, foundational principles, plan of action, and overarching goals, and identifying new objectives. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services created the Healthy People 2020 document (CDC, 2020).

Leading Health Indicators for Healthy People 2020

The leading health indicators are composed of health topics that include statistical evaluations (tracking of incidence, measuring, and reporting) of the following (CDC, 2020):

- Access to health care (people with medical insurance and available healthcare providers).
- 2. Clinical preventive services (adults who receive colorectal cancer screenings, adults whose blood pressure is under control, adult diabetics with A1c values greater than 9%, children aged 19 to 35 months who received DPT, hepatitis B, and A1C vaccinations).
- 3. Environmental quality (air quality index exceeding 100 and children 3 to 11 years exposed to secondhand smoke).
- **4.** Injury and violence (fatal injuries and homicides).
- **5.** Maternal, infant, and child health (infant deaths and preterm deaths).
- **6.** Mental health (suicides and adolescents with major depression disorders).
- Nutrition, physical activity, and obesity (adults who meet the federal activity guidelines for aerobic physical activity and muscle strengthening activity, obese children, and total vegetable intake for those 2 years and older).
- **8.** Oral health (those 2 years and older who accessed oral health care in the past 12 months).
- 9. Reproductive and sexual health (sexually active females who received reproductive health services in the last 12 months, and people who know their HIV serostatus).
- **10.** Social determinants of health (high school education levels).
- 11. Substance abuse (adolescents using alcohol or other illicit drugs in the past 30 days and adults engaging in binge drinking in the past 30 days).
- 12. Tobacco (adults who are current cigarette smokers and adolescents who smoked cigarettes in the past 30 days).

Healthy People 2020: Highlights of Progress in Health and Health Care in the United States

• Between 2006 and 2016, life expectancy at birth in the U.S. for the total population *in*creased 0.8 years—from 77.8 years to 78.6 years.